
Minutes 

Bristol Select Board 

December 17, 2015 

Present:  Select Board members:  Janet Cote, Shaun Lagueux, Betsy Schneider, Rick Alpers, Paul 

Manganiello, and Interim Town Administrator Merelise O’Connor.   

The meeting was called to order at 6:00PM. 

Mr. Alpers made a motion to approve the public and non-public minutes from December 3, 2015 and  

December 10, 2015 , seconded by Mr. Manganiello.  Ms. Schneider amended the December 10, 2016 to 

read 75-88% in regards to the wage study discussion. The Board voted 5-0 in favor of approving the 

minutes as amended.   

Consent agenda: Mr. Alpers made a motion to approve the consent agenda dated December 17, 2015 to 

include the items named therein, seconded by Ms. Schneider. The Board voted 5-0 to approve the 

consent agenda. 

Lucille Keegan- Old Fire Station: 

Mrs. Cote informed the Board that this discussion is centered on the encumbrance of the warrant article 

for the painting of the Old Fire Station.  Ms. Keegan commented that the warrant article was approved 

at Town Meeting and the project should go forward in the coming year. The Board should quickly pick 

someone to do the painting so it doesn’t get held up.  The doors off High Street are rotted out. A quote 

was received to build doors that look the same as it is not possible to buy doors like those. The 

basement also needs some work and needs to be cleaned up to use the area for storage.  Ms. Keegan 

asked for an explanation on the encumbrance.  Ms. O’Connor replied that the warrant article would 

lapse at the end of the year unless the Select Board votes the appropriation as encumbered for a 

maximum of one year.  Mr. Lagueux made a motion to encumber the $22,000 raised through the 

warrant article for repainting and repair of the Old Fire Station, seconded by Ms. Schneider.  The Board 

voted 5-0 in favor of the motion.  Mr. Lagueux suggested that the new Town Administrator take on the 

new project with Ms. Keegan.  Ms. Keegan commented that an estimate should be acquired from John 

Thompson, who painted the Old Town Hall.  A quote was received from Merle Phelps for making and 

installing the doors at a cost of $3,600.  Mr. Alpers commented that there is money in the Building 

Maintenance Fund that was started three years ago.  Ms. Schneider commented that the estimate 

should be received first to see how much will be needed.  Ms. Keegan will contact Mr. Phelps in regards 

to the doors. 

Encumbrances: 

Ms. O’Connor informed the Board that encumbrances include the library, generator, highway truck, and 

paving.  There is $77,000 left in the paving line.  Mark Bucklin commented that he should have a quote 

from Bryant Paving by December 18th.  Ms. O’Connor informed the Board that this money can be 



encumbered with a legally enforceable obligation (contract).  Mr. Bucklin commented that the money 

will be enough to cover paving Central Street, the sidewalks, and the parking areas. 

Mr. Lagueux made a motion to encumber $77,000 from the paving line for the purpose of paving and 

improvements on Central Street contingent upon a quote from the paving contractor, seconded by Mr. 

Alpers.  The Board voted 4-0-1 in favor of the motion. 

Mr. Alpers made a motion to encumber the warrant article for the generator in the amount of $26,000 

and the warrant article for the plow truck in the amount of $60,000 both from the 2015 Town Meeting 

and encumber them into the 2016 budget, seconded by Mrs. Cote. The Board voted 5-0 to approve the 

motion. 

Mr. Alpers made a motion to encumber $9,400 from the Library operating budget for the purpose of 

three building maintenance items, seconded by Ms. Schneider. The Board voted 5-0 in favor of the 

motion.  

TTCC Budget Presentation: Doug Williams and Barbara Greenwood presented budget highlights. 

Mr. Williams informed the Board that a packet was forwarded to the Board with the 2016 request in the 

amount of $103,803 which includes a $4,100 increase over 2015. This increase is based upon a fair share 

number. The TTCC Board has worked diligently to absorb the increased costs. The increases include a 

change in accounting process for the TTCC and the need for increased staffing due to more teen nights, 

the Friday after school program, and opening for school vacation weeks. An electrical update was 

completed to the building. The TTCC has been working diligently with the town overseeing Kelley Park 

events which puts another strain of staffing.  Over the past 10 years the TTCC budget has increased 

$238,700 and the town portion has increased $15,556 which is spread out over all eight towns. Mr. 

Lagueux commented that Les Dion presented to the Budget Committee this week and that the Center 

has kept the budget level funded for several years but they now need to play catch up.  Bristol’s 

participation in the Center has increased over the past year and the increase seems reasonable based 

upon usage. 

Town Administrator’s Report: 

The Planning Board brought forward a candidate, Bob Curtis. Mr. Manganiello commented that Deb 

Denning resigned and the Board needs to cover the opening.  Mr. Lagueux made a motion to appoint 

Bob Curtis to the Planning Board, seconded by Ms. Schneider. The Board voted 5-0 to approve the 

motion. 

A conditional offer was made to a candidate for Town Administrator effective January 11, 2016.  Mr. 

Alpers made a motion to appoint Nicholas Coates as the next Town Administrator effective January 11, 

2016 contingent upon successful completion of a background check and successful contract negotiation 

with the Board, seconded by Ms. Schneider.  The Board voted 5-0 in favor of the motion. 

The state inspected municipally owned bridges and a culvert on Danforth Brook Road needs some 

attention. The report was given to Highway Superintendent Mark Bucklin. 



A conversation was held with Jeff Chartier regarding the collection of Water/Sewer fees and how liens 

are applied. This needs some work in the future and may require a policy. 

A request for a letter of support from Lakes Region Planning Commission was received.  The letter of 

support is needed for a grant proposal for solid waste. The Board agreed by consensus that Ms. 

O’Connor will draft a letter of support and the Board Chair will sign. 

The Zoning amendments drafted by the Planning Board will have to be added to the warrant. 

Ms. O’Connor asked the Board if the town should consult with an attorney regarding the intent to 

intervene process for the Northern Pass project. Mr. Alpers replied that the town will probably need 

some advice from Town Council regarding what steps are needed to intervene. Mrs. Cote commented 

that $4,000 was budgeted but this may not be enough for intervening. 

A letter was received requesting a waiver for the parking ban to accommodate an apartment building at 

28 Central Square.  The Police Chief and Highway Superintendent were consulted and both suggest not 

waiving the ban. Mr. Alpers commented that they are not asking to waive the whole ban but are just 

looking for a reprieve.  Mr. Bucklin commented that there is parking allowed in front of the bank and in 

back of the library. Mr. Alpers commented that residents need to come in and register cars for winter 

parking.  Chief Lewis replied that residents can receive a parking permit on November 15th and that the 

two lots that can be used are both paved. Mrs. Cote asked if the parking ban is only during storms. Mr. 

Bucklin replied that the ban is from November 15th through April 15th.  Ms. O’Connor will convey this 

information to the Fitzpatricks. 

Jeff Chartier and Bill Dowey are hoping to get a solar project going at the Wastewater Treatment plant 

facility and are seeking the Board’s support for a one million dollar warrant article to put a sizeable solar 

array at the facility.  They are working now to get a USDA loan and a grant from the Community 

Development Finance Authority in Concord.  The hope is to reduce electricity costs for the plant and 

pump station so that the loan is a wash. 

In a meeting with Superintendent of Schools, Stacy Buckley stated she was amenable to having the ice 

rink on school property with indemnity.  Any damage would have to be repaired.  Supervision is a 

concern as it would be on school property.  Ms. Schneider commented that this would be no different 

than when the rink is in Kelley Park. Mr. Lagueux commented that the agreement should be pursued if 

the rink is going to be put up this year.  

Mrs. Cote asked for a Safe Routes to School update.  Ms. O’Connor replied that there are four 

easements signed. One easement is being negotiated with Mike Vignali and the property owners in 

regards to the height and location of a wall.  Mr. Bucklin commented that a slope would be better than a 

retaining wall.  Mr. Lagueux commented that Mr. Vignali should work with the property owners to keep 

the project moving forward.  Mrs. Cote commented that the Board agrees with Mr. Vignali’s 

recommendations.  

Select Board Items: 



Mr. Lagueux informed the Board that the Budget Committee met on Monday for department budget 

presentations and that the Select Board is presenting their budget on December 21st. 

Mr. Alpers informed the Board that a letter was written to send to the three surrounding towns 

regarding financial assistance for the fireworks display.  Ms. Schneider commented that she talked with 

Atlas Fireworks and they are sending a contract for the show. 

Mr. Alpers informed the Board that letters were sent to elected officials regarding the closing of the 

liquor store.  Mr. Alpers talked with Counselor Kenny and Senator Forrester regarding this and is waiting 

for their replies. 

Mr. Manganiello informed the Board that the Planning Board is requesting funding for engineering work 

in their department budget.  Mr. Alpers commented that $1,000 should be put in their budget on a 

yearly basis for consultants.  The fees are being paid by the applicants.  

Mrs. Cote commented that the Board needs to deal with deadlines for the town report and other 

budget pieces such as end of year closure.  Ms. O’Connor commented that the merit pay needs to be 

adjusted back into wages.  Mrs. Cote commented that those journal entries have not been done yet.  

Chief Yannuzzi commented that Melanie Shokal had two worksheets regarding the wages.  Mr. Alpers 

commented that the books are usually closed around January 15th. 

Mrs. Cote informed the Board that a public hearing may have to be held for the solar warrant article.  

Ms. O’Connor replied that a public hearing must be held for any amount over $100,000 within 15-60 

days of Town Meeting and be noticed 7 days ahead of the hearing.  Mr. Alpers commented that there 

needs to be two bond meetings on the solar and meter upgrade warrant articles.  

Public Comment: 

John Sellers asked if three bids were received for the doors at the Old Fire Station and for the paving on 

Central Street.  Mr. Alpers replied that Mark Bucklin needs a quote for budgeting then he will rebid the 

project next year and get three quotes. 

John Sellers asked if the boards on the ice rink couldn’t be cut down to make it easier to put up.  Ms. 

Schneider replied that the shoveling is the problem not setting up the rink.  Mr. Alpers commented that 

this is a decision for the rink committee and not the Select Board. 

John Sellers commented that he met with Chief Lewis regarding the statistics on calls.  Mr. Sellers 

commented that the system Chief Lewis uses is not user friendly for getting information quickly. Mr. 

Sellers asked if the Board could look into a system that is easier to access. 

John Sellers commented that the town should bill the school district for any hours that a resource officer 

works out at the high school for any incidents. 

John Sellers commented that he does not want the Board to lose sight of the ambulance contract sheet 

that he submitted to them. 



Ray Woodward of 59 Lake Street informed that Board that tenants in his building were evicted by Kelly 

Lacasse for vandalism. The tenants accumulated a water bill and left without paying and the town is now 

looking for the money for the unpaid bill. Mr. Woodward asked if the town could go after the tenants 

for payment of the bill.  Mrs. Cote replied that the town cannot as the property owner gets sent the tax 

and water/sewer bills. The town is not a party to any tenant/property owner agreements.  Mr. Alpers 

commented that it is clearly stated in the Water/Sewer Ordinance that if a tenant leaves a bill unpaid 

the building owner is responsible for the debt left. This is a policy of the Board and the Water/Sewer 

Department.  Chief Lewis suggested that Mr. Woodward go to Plymouth Court and file a civil affidavit to 

get a court date to hear the case. 

2016 Budget Work session:  After a brief recess the Board was called back in session at 7:42pm. 

Mrs. Cote informed the Board that new information regarding the wage study has been received from 

the Water/Sewer department and the Tax Collector. Mrs. Cote commented that there needs to be a 

clear methodology that will be used to determine the amount for the budget as some figures are based 

on partial year and some departments used full year figures.  Chief Yannuzzi replied that it was 

conveyed to him to use full year figures in his budget.  Ms. O’Connor asked if the wage increases go into 

effect after Town Meeting and are they retro.  Mr. Alpers replied that the increases generally go into 

effect around April 1st and they are not retroactive. Chief Lewis commented that the merit based wage 

increases were difficult to implement by the Finance Office and the department heads need to have the 

merit evaluations done well before Town Meeting to streamline the implementation.   

Mrs. Cote commented that the worksheet the Board is using included a notes section with the 

recommended wage amounts.  Some departments will be changing these amounts.  The Deputy Town 

Clerk wage study amount is $22,256 and the Town Clerk wage is $29,390. This is repeated in the Finance 

budget for these two positions also. The numbers are based on a full year.  The shared laborer in 

Highway and Water/Sewer is now at $13.27 per hour. 

Mrs. Cote commented that the Board needs to make a decision if they are going to support the wage 

study based on the 2016 recommendations by the department heads.  Ms. Schneider replied that it is 

difficult to make a good decision on this and suggested that the Board look at just the people outside 

the gray area first and look at others more methodically later on.  Mrs. Cote commented that there is 

wage data that is more current and some time should be spent looking at this as the 2007 study may not 

be the best choice to use. Chief Yannuzzi commented that this was taken into consideration and the 

data shown is using the CPI index which shows where the pay scale would be today based on the 2007 

survey. Chief Lewis commented that in his opinion he would rather have the wage study adopted than a 

2.5% increase as the longer term employees need to be brought up to scale.  There have been new 

employees hired who are being brought on at higher rates than employees who have been employed 

for long periods of time.  The pay would still be unequal with only a 2.5% increase. Chief Yannuzzi 

commented that the department heads were prepared to present the wage study numbers at the joint 

Budget Committee/Select Board meeting in December but then told not to. Ms. Schneider replied that 

the reason the numbers were taken out was that the Board was not prepared to vote on them. Mr. 

Alpers commented that he recommended taking the numbers out because Michael Capone was not at 



the meeting to help with the explanation and that Mr. Capone was not allowed to attend.  Mr. Alpers 

recommends that the Board take more time to study this and present it as a warrant article and put the 

merit raise in the budget. This buys more time as the budget is a bit disorganized.  Mr. Manganiello 

commented that he is looking at just getting everyone who is off the scale onto the scale then to look at 

giving merit raises to bring people up to wage. Mr. Manganiello suggested that a cap on the 2.5% should 

not be included as some employees may need more than that to raise their wages. Mr. Alpers replied 

that these are two separate parts, the merit raise is for rewarding good work done in 2015. 

Chief Lewis requested that he be able to present his wage numbers to the Board. He will send along 

supplemental documents.  Some of the wage lines have been reduced due to new personnel assigned to 

those lines.  Chief Lewis’s recommendations are as follows: 

Line 110-Chief:  placed at midrange at $80,017.  Line 111-Lieutenant: placed at midrange at $69,985. 

Line 112- Prosecutor/lieutenant: place at midrange at $65,985. Line 113-Officer: place one level above 

step 1 with a reduction to $41,600.  Line 115- Officer: new hire at $40,727.  Line 116-Officer: placed 

between low and midrange at $47,320.  Line 117- Officer:  this is a three year employee placed at 

midrange at $47,840. Line 118-Secretary:  this is a fixed cost item with no change at $42,861. Line 119-as 

presented and should be compensated at $54,600.  Line 125-Prosecution:  this is a 32 hour/week 

position at $46,176.  Mrs. Cote asked for clarification on Line 115.  Chief Lewis confirmed that the line 

went down significantly to $40,726.   

Chief Yannuzzi presented his wage recommendations to the Board: 

Line 110-Chief:  placed at $80,017, this is the same as the Police Chief.  Line 113- Firefighter: placed at 

$50,643. Line 114-Firefighter: placed at $50,643. Line 115- Fire Captain: placed at $61,601. Line 116- Fire 

Captain: placed at $57,707.  Line 118- Fire Captain: placed at $57,707.  The total increase in wages is 

$85,567. Mr. Lagueux asked if Overtime has to be adjusted.  Chief Yannuzzi replied that Overtime and 

Holiday pay is included in the total. Ms. O’Connor asked what the total increase is without Overtime or 

Holiday pay included. Chief Yannuzzi replied that the total would be $74, 248. There were so many 

employees out of their range and this amount was to get everyone to midrange.  

The Highway Department had two employee wage adjustments to make. The Superintendent position is 

at $65,998.  Line 117-Foreman: the rate is $21.50 per hour or $44,720. The Shared Laborer position is at 

$27,601 of which 34% is Highway department costs.  Ms. O’Connor clarified that $9,384 is in the 

Highway Department budget.  Mr. Lagueux commented that $18, 216 is split 50/50 between the Water 

and Sewer departments. Mr. Lagueux asked if the total increase was only $4,000.  Mr. Bucklin replied 

that it is. Mr. Alpers commented that he questions the wage ranges for employees who have worked 

about 30 years with the department. These employees should be moving to the top end of their scale. 

The Highway Superintendent should be moving towards the upper end of the scale with 24 years of 

employment with the town.  This would go for the operator who has many years of employment with 

the town too.  Ms. O’Connor commented that the Water/Sewer Superintendent is at approximately 

$72,000 and the position is a comparable position.  Mr. Alpers suggested that the Board look at the 

Highway Department wages more thoroughly. 



Mrs. Cote commented that the Water/Sewer department numbers from Jeff Chartier need to be cleared 

up and confirmed.  

Mrs. Cote informed the Board that the Town Clerk/Tax Collector numbers were presented without the 

wage study included.  Based on the study the Town Clerk is at $28.26 per hour and the Deputy Town 

Clerk is at $21.40 per hour. Ms. Raymah Simpson commented that the Deputy position has new 

responsibilities and that the position may start at the same level even though there is a new person 

being hired for that position.  

Mr. Manganiello commented that he would like to reduce Line 140- Overtime in the Police department 

budget. It was funded last year at $33,000 and Mr. Manganiello recommends funding the line at 

$25,000.  There was a lot of Overtime due to personnel replacement and the department having fewer 

officers. The newer officers are at a lower rate of pay and there is a full force of officers.  Mr. Lagueux 

asked what the final number is for Overtime in 2015.  Chief Lewis replied that it is over by about $7,500 

right now and it is in line with the $40,000 requested in 2016. Chief Lewis commented that the Overtime 

rate that is presented equals 3.1 hours for every 24 hours.  Overtime is spent when incidents happen 

and officers have to be called back in.  The Plymouth Police department Overtime budget is $137,000 by 

comparison. The Police department responds to the same calls as the Fire Department and the hours 

are spent wisely and as responsibly as possible.  Chief Lewis informed the Board that vacation and sick 

time were not back filled with Overtime and that the Chief has covered shifts so as not to pay our 

Overtime pay.  Mr. Manganiello suggested that the Certified Special Police line be cut in half instead as 

there are only three officers in that category. Ms. Schneider commented that one of those officers has 

been used for outside details exclusively.  Chief Lewis replied that he tries to say within the line item but 

he needs the $25,000 for adequate coverage.  Ms. O’Connor informed the Board that the year to date 

expenses for Overtime is $36,678 and $21, 050 for Certified Special Police.  Mr. Alpers commented that 

these are pretty accurate expenses. Mrs. Cote commented that the Overtime line is the line the Chief 

cuts because he is always asked to cut his budget. 

Mr. Manganiello asked if line 143- Witness Fees is used for overtime. Chief Lewis replied that there is 

overtime in this line but that some of this is paid to officers on their regular shift.  Mr. Manganiello 

suggested that this line be zeroed out and put in the Overtime line.  Mr. Alpers replied that under 

former Chief Wingate the court time was separated out for transparency.  Ms. Schneider commented 

that she thinks the Certified Special Police should be back down to $20,000.   

Ms. Schneider commented that line 142- Investigations is not accurate as there are four payroll items in 

there.  Chief Lewis replied that these were billed to the wrong line and that it has been corrected. 

Mr. Alpers made a motion to accept the budget as presented minus the wage study, seconded by Mr. 

Lagueux.   The Board voted 2-3 to defeat the motion. 

Mr. Manganiello suggested that $1 be put into Line 390-Prosecutor Program in order for the Board to 

utilize the line at a future time. 



Mrs. Cote made a motion to approve the Police Department budget as amended without the wage 

study, seconded by Mr. Lagueux.  Mr. Manganiello commented that the still thinks the Overtime should 

be cut. Mr. Alpers replied that the will me him half way and agreed to cut the Special Certified Police line 

and leaving Overtime and Witness Fees alone.  Ms. Schneider asked where the Gas/Oil line was at.  Ms. 

O’Connor replied that the year to date expense is $18,312. Ms. Schneider commented that she would 

like to see that line cut to $22,000.  Mr. Alpers replied that he does not agree as gas prices may not stay 

so low and mileage could go up.  Mrs. Cote asked the Board if they were in agreement in cutting 

Certified Special Police, all but Mr. Lagueux agreed. Mr. Manganiello commented that the Gas line in 

2010 was $23,000 actual expense. Mrs. Cote asked what the gas and diesel contract prices are.  Chief 

Yannuzzi replied that the state contract price for gas is $2.74 per gallon and diesel is $2.64 per gallon. 

This is a 30 month contract which expires in June of 2017.  Chief Yannuzzi commented that in the long 

term the towns make out on average due to fluctuations.  Mrs. Cote, Mr. Lagueux, and Mr. Alpers 

agreed that Gas/Oil line should be left at $26,000.   

Mrs. Cote rescinded her previous motion. Mr. Alpers made a motion to approve the Police Department 

budget as amended, seconded by Mr. Manganiello.  The Board voted 4-1 in favor of the motion. 

Mr. Manganiello asked why the number in Line 390 of the Fire Department changed.  Chief Yannuzzi 

replied that the number is down because there was a project to move telephone poles on Lake Street 

and the project is done.  Mr. Manganiello asked what Line 345 was for.  Chief Yannuzzi replied that line 

is to purchase IPads for the ambulances for patient care.  The IPads make it possible to go completely 

towards electronic patient reporting eliminating paperwork.  Mr. Alpers commented that the Fire 

Department budget is down $10,000 minus the wage study. Mrs. Cote replied that $9,844 is savings 

from health insurance.  Ms. Schneider commented that Line 660-Suburban should be lowered to $100 

and $1,100 moved to another line as the command vehicle is brand new and shouldn’t need 

maintenance.  Chief Yannuzzi replied that if the money is being moved it should go to Line 665 which is 

the backup ambulance.  The vehicle is having a lot of little things go on it.  

Mr. Alpers made a motion to approve the Fire Department budget as amended minus the wage study, 

seconded by Mr. Lagueux.  The Board voted 5-0 in favor of the motion. 

Mr. Manganiello asked Highway Superintendent Mark Bucklin what Line 431-Building Maintenance is 

being used for.  Mr. Alpers commented that bathroom work was being done.  Mr. Bucklin replied that 

there was laminate placed around the lower half of the bathroom, painting was done, redid the sink, 

and a new toilet put in. $900 was spent to fix the lights. The proposed maintenance work includes more 

painting around the shop, cleaning up the office, and replacing a piece of metal roof that is loose.  Mr. 

Alpers suggested bracing the salt shed also.  

Mr. Alpers made a motion to accept the Highway Department budget as amended without the wage 

study, seconded by Mr. Manganiello. The Board voted 5-0 in favor of the motion. 

Mrs. Cote informed that Board that there is still no new information regarding the Street Lighting line. 

Mr. Alpers suggested leaving a buffer in the line in case the state shuts the lights off at the bridge. Mr. 



Lagueux commented that if the line needs to be lowered the Budget Committee can do this during 

deliberations.   

Mr. Lagueux made a motion to accept the Highway Projects and the Street/Bridges budgets as 

presented, seconded by Mr. Manganiello.  Mr. Alpers commented that to be clear the $77,000 will be 

added to the paving line.  The Board voted 5-0 in favor of the motion. 

Mr. Alpers commented that the town could do more recycling to save money. Mr. Bucklin agreed and 

said it is difficult to watch people not recycle when the container is right there. Mr. Lagueux commented 

that some businesses sort and some don’t and they are big producers of trash.  Mr. Bucklin replied that 

he would classify businesses as commercial haulers as they bring in double and triple what households 

bring in. Mr. Alpers asked if this would be a town ordinance or a zoning ordinance.  Ms. O’Connor 

replied that it would be part of the Solid Waste Ordinance.  Mr. Alpers said this should be addressed in 

2016. Ms. O’Connor suggested looking at towns that have a high percentage of recycling. 

Mr. Alpers made a motion to approve the Solid Waste budget as presented, seconded by Mr. Lagueux.  

The Board voted 5-0 to approve the motion. 

Mrs. Cote commented that the Legal budget needs to be discussed in regards to Northern Pass as there 

is only $4,000 budgeted for intervenor’s status for Northern Pass.  Mr. Lagueux replied that the Budget 

Committee can increase the line later as new information comes in.  Mr. Alpers commented that the 

Contingency Line would pay for this too. Mr. Lagueux commented that he feels confident that there is 

enough money in the Legal line even though it is a volatile line.  

Mrs. Cote asked the Board if more money is needed for the part-time seasonal maintenance positon. 

There is $10,000 currently budgeted for that line. Ms. O’Connor commented that the year to date 

expenses is $5,500.  Mr. Alpers commented that the $10,000 should be enough to cover shoveling and 

other duties.  

Mrs. Cote asked the Board if more town signage is needed.  Ms. Schneider suggested encumbering the 

money as the sign is not completed yet.  Mr. Alpers commented that they town can get the bill for last 

sign and pay it instead of encumbering. Mr. Alpers suggested that new signs for the beaches be ordered 

next.  Mr. Lagueux commented that each sign is $800.  Mr. Alpers suggested that three beach signs be 

added for a cost of $2,400. 

Mrs. Cote asked the Board if the budget should include $180 for the Chamber of Commerce.  The Board 

agreed to fund the Chamber dues. 

Mr. Alpers commented that a line for the web site update is missing. Mr. Alpers commented that a safe 

estimate is $10,000.  Mrs. Cote replied that this will be added to the Executive budget.  

Mrs. Cote asked if two crossing guards should be budgeted for.  Mr. Alpers replied that the town could 

just go with one as Harold is doing a good job and he kids are gravitating to the cross walk.  Mrs. Cote 

commented that people are asking for a guard at the Middle School cross walk.  



Ms. Schneider suggested that Board discuss the percentage that the town pays toward health insurance 

which is at 90% and this should be looked at as the Board is working on the wage study.  Most towns in 

the wage study came in between 75-88%. Ms. Schneider said she would like to work toward 85%. Mr. 

Alpers commented that he suggests the department heads forming a committee to discuss this as 

employee input is needed.   Mr. Alpers commented that the better benefits are helping to attract 

employees not wages.  Mrs. Cote commented that she would like more information before deciding.  

Mr. Manganiello commented that the total compensation package needs to be looked at.  Mr. Lagueux 

commented that the appropriate time to do this would be during the renewal of the health insurance 

contract. 

Mr. Alpers made a motion to approve the Water/Sewer budget as presented, seconded by Ms. 

Schneider.  Mr. Alpers commented that he spoke with Jeff Chartier and Mr. Chartier does not anticipate 

any rate increases.  The Board voted 5-0 in favor of the motion. 

Ms. Schneider suggested that the Board look at Social Services and that they should be level funded 

from last year.  Mrs. Cote commented that Genesis did not come in last year and the Red Cross did not 

submit a request.  Mr. Lagueux replied that Genesis did present at the Budget Committee this year and 

they are the only mental health agency in the area. Mr. Alpers suggested that Genesis be funded at 

$3,000. Mr. Lagueux suggested leaving CADY at $2,000 considering the current drug problem. Mrs. Cote 

suggested leaving Day Away Program at $1,500 and level funding Tri-County CAP and Voices Against 

Violence.  The new Social Services total is $21,950.   

Mr. Alpers made a motion to approve the Social Services budget as amended, seconded by Mr. Lagueux. 

The Board voted 5-0 in favor of the motion.  

Mrs. Cote suggested that the Board fund the Capital Reserve fund for assessing at $35,000 again this 

year. This is for the coming revaluation of the town.  Mrs. Cote suggested that the Bicentennial fund be 

continued at $10,000 as this fund was started for the 2019 celebration. Mr. Lagueux asked how much is 

in the Building Maintenance fund.  Mr. Alpers replied that there is roughly $30,000 in there now and 

that $5,000 should be added this year as money will be expended for carpets and doors. 

Mr. Alpers made a motion to accept the remaining budgets as amended, seconded by Mr. Lagueux. The 

Board voted 5-0 in favor of the motion. 

With no other business to come before the Board, at 10:40 Mr. Lagueux made a motion to go into non-

public session under RSA 91-A:3 (b), seconded by Mrs. Cote.  A roll call vote was held. The motion 

carried by a vote of 5-0.  The Board voted 5-0 in favor of the motion. 

At 10:52PM, Ms. Schneider made a motion to adjourn.  The motion was seconded by Mr. Lagueux.  The 

Board voted 5-0 in favor of adjournment. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Wendy Costigan 



____________________________        ____________________________ 

Janet Cote, Chair                  Shaun Lagueux, Vice Chair 

 

____________________________         ____________________________    

Paul Manganiello, Select Board                    Betsy Schneider, Select Board 

 

_____________________________ 

Rick Alpers, Select Board 

 

 

 

 

 


